University of Alberta

### N-EXTREMELY AMENABLE SEMI-TOPOLOGICAL SEMIGROUPS

by Nicolas Bouffard

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

 $\mathbf{in}$ 

Mathematics

Department of Mathematical and Statistical Sciences Edmonton, Alberta Fall 2006

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-22230-0 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-22230-0

#### NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

#### AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



#### ABSTRACT

A semigroup S is n-extremely left amenable if there is a set F of n multiplicative means on the space of bounded real valued functions on S which is minimal with respect to left translation. When S is a semi-topological semigroup, we replace the space of bounded real valued functions by the space of left uniformly continuous functions on S. n-extreme left amenability is related to some fixed point property.

First we characterize extreme left amenability of a semigroup in term of ultrafilters. We also give some result on the semidirect product of two extremely left amenable semigroups. Finally, we give some results related to density and to homomorphic image of semi-topological semigroups in relation to extreme left amenability.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I sincerely thank my supervisor Dr. Anthony T.-M. Lau for his guidance throughout the preparation of my thesis and during all of my program. I also thank Shawn Desaulniers and Benjamin Willson for their help, and my family and friends for their support. Finally, I would like to thank Nicholas Boers, Shawn Desaulniers, Ana Kerbabian and Cosmin Paduraru for their comments and corrections on the final version of my thesis. To my family.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

# **Table of Contents**

| 1 | Intr | Introduction   |    |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|---|------|--|----|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 2 | Pre  | eliminaries  |    |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | 2.1  | Introduction   |    |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | 2.2  | Definitions and notations                                    | 4  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | 2.3  | Amenability  | 7  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | 2.4  | Ultrafilters   | 8  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | 2.5  | Stone-Čech and Bohr compactifications                        | 10 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | 2.6  | Discrete semigroups  | 13 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | 2.7  | Semi-topological semigroups                                  | 21 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | 2.8  | Subalgebras of $m(S)$  | 24 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | 2.9  | Action of semigroup  | 25 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | 2.10 | n-extreme left amenability                                   | 27 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 3 | Mai  | Iain Results   |    |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | 3.1  | Introduction   | 29 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | 3.2  | Left thick subset and ultrafilters                           | 30 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | 3.3  | Semidirect product and extreme left amenability              | 33 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | 3.4  | Dense subsemigroup of a topological group                    | 37 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | 3.5  | Dense subsemigroup and homomorphic image of semi-topological |    |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   |      | semigroup  | 41 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 4 | Con  | clusion  | 45 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|   | 4.1  | Summary  | 45 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |

| 4.2     | Future work | ••• | • | • | • | <br>• | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • |  | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | 45 |
|---------|-------------|-----|---|---|---|-------|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|--|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|----|
| Bibliog | raphy       |     |   |   |   |       |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |  |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   | 47 |

# Chapter 1

# Introduction

In this thesis, we are interested in studying n-extremely amenable semitopological semigroups and related algebras. The subject comes from amenable semigroups, about which most of what we need for our purpose can be found in [6]. This paper proposes an interesting way to define the concept of mean, a concept which will be very important:

"A mean value, or average value, of a function is a number chosen in some reasonable fashion between the least upper bound and the greatest lower bound of the function. Here we ask that the choice be made simultaneaoustly for all functions in m(S) and made in a linear way" [6].

A functional analysis definition of a mean, which is equivalent, will be given in the begining of chapter 2.

Chapter 2 contains the basic definitions and theorems that we need. We define the notion of ultrafilters and talk about the Stone-Čech compactification of a semigroup and the Bohr compactification of an abelian group. We define some interesting algebras related to a semigroup and define the notion of action of a semigroup, which we relate to the notion of extreme amenability. We also provide a characterization of extremely left amenable semigroups and extremely left amenable semigroups.

In chapter 3, we present our main results. In particular, we are interested in seeing how we can characterize extreme left amenability using the notion of ultrafilters. We define the semidirect product of two semigroups, and give results related to the semidirect product of two extremely left amenable semigroups. We are also interested in how extreme left amenability of a group and extreme left amenability of a dense subsemigroup are related. We also present some results related to dense subgroups of an n-extremely left amenable semitopological semigroup and the homomorphic image of an n-extremely left amenable semi-topological semigroup.

Finally, in the last chapter, we provide some examples of possible future research.

# Chapter 2

# **Preliminaries**

### 2.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we define most of the basic notions that are needed for the next chapter.

We start this chapter with some important definitions and notations. In sections 2.4 and 2.5, we define the notion of ultrafilters and give the basic idea of the Stone-Čech compactification and the Bohr compactification which will play an important role later in characterizing extremely left amenable semigroups.

In the following two sections, 2.6 and 2.7, we present some basic characterizations of discrete extremely left amenable semigroups, and extremely left amenable semi-topological semigroups.

In section 2.8 we define some important subalgebras of m(S), the space of all bounded real valued functions on a semigroup S, that will be useful later on.

In the last two sections of this chapter, we extend the notion of extreme left amenability first for semigroups acting on a Hausdorff space and then for the case where we do not necessarily have a multiplicative left invariant mean, but a left invariant mean which is the convex combination of n multiplicative means.

### 2.2 Definitions and notations

**Definition 2.2.1.** A semigroup is a set S with a binary operation which is associative, i.e., for any elements x, y and z in S, we have

$$(x \cdot y) \cdot z = x \cdot (y \cdot z).$$

**Definition 2.2.2.** A group is a set G together with a binary operation denoted by " $\cdot$ " satisfying:

• For any  $x, y, z \in G$ :

$$(x \cdot y) \cdot z = x \cdot (y \cdot z).$$

• There exists an element in G denoted 1, such that:

$$1 \cdot x = x \cdot 1 = x, \forall x \in G.$$

• For each element  $x \in G$ , there exists an element  $x^{-1} \in G$  such that:

$$xx^{-1} = x^{-1}x = 1.$$

Remark 2.2.3. When the group is abelian (i.e., the binary operation is commutative) we usually denote the neutral element by 0, and use the notation (-x) for the inverse of x.

**Example 2.2.4.** The sets  $\mathbb{N}$  of natural numbers,  $\mathbb{Z}$  of integers,  $\mathbb{Q}$  of rational numbers,  $\mathbb{R}$  of real numbers, and  $\mathbb{C}$  of complex numbers are all commutative semigroups with addition and multiplication.

**Example 2.2.5.** The sets  $\mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\mathbb{Q}$ ,  $\mathbb{R}$  and  $\mathbb{C}$  are all abelian groups under addition, and the sets  $\mathbb{Q}\setminus\{0\}$ ,  $\mathbb{R}\setminus\{0\}$ , and  $\mathbb{C}\setminus\{0\}$  are all abelian groups under multiplication.

**Example 2.2.6.** The set  $M(n, \mathbb{C})$  of all  $n \times n$  matrices over the complex numbers  $\mathbb{C}$  under matrix multiplication is a noncommutative semigroup.

**Example 2.2.7.** If X is a set of cardinality greater than 1, then the set of all functions from X into X is a noncommutative semigroup under composition of functions.

Given a semigroup S with a topology, we say that the product  $S \times S \to S$ is separately continuous if whenever a net  $\{s_{\alpha}\}$  in S converges to an element  $s \in S$ , and t is any element of the semigroup, we have that:

$$s_{\alpha}t \rightarrow st$$

and

$$ts_{\alpha} \rightarrow ts.$$

In the same way, we say that the product is jointly continuous, if whenever  $\{s_{\alpha}\}$  and  $\{t_{\beta}\}$  are two nets in S such that  $s_{\alpha} \to s$  and  $t_{\beta} \to t$ , we have:

$$s_{\alpha}t_{\beta} \to st.$$

**Definition 2.2.8** (semi-topological semigroup). A semi-topological semigroup is a semigroup with a Hausdorff topology such that the product  $G \times G \to G$  is separately continuous.

In the same way, we define a *topological semigroup* to be a semigroup with a Hausdorff topology, such that the product is jointly continuous.

**Example 2.2.9.** The sets  $\mathbb{Q}$ ,  $\mathbb{R}$ , and  $\mathbb{C}$  with the usual topology are all topological semigroups with both addition and multiplication. They are also topological groups under addition. The usual topology on those semigroups is the topology coming from the Euclidean norm. Note that  $\mathbb{Q}$  is not locally compact.

**Example 2.2.10.** The semigroup  $M(n, \mathbb{C})$  with the usual topology is a topological semigroup. The subgroup  $GL(n, \mathbb{C})$  of invertible  $n \times n$  matrices over  $\mathbb{C}$  is a topological group. The usual topology on  $M(n, \mathbb{C})$  is the relative topology of  $\mathbb{C}^{n^2}$ .

**Example 2.2.11.** Let X be a topological space and let C(X, X) be the space of continuous functions from X into X under composition of functions and the topology of pointwise convergence on X. Then C(X, X) is a semitopological semigroup.

**Definition 2.2.12** (The space m(S)). Let S be a semigroup. We then define the space m(S) to be the space of all bounded real-valued functions on S. Many authors use the notation  $\ell^{\infty}(S)$  instead of m(S). On the space m(S) we use the topology of norm convergence, where the norm is defined by:

$$||f|| = \sup_{s \in S} |f(s)|$$

for any function  $f \in m(S)$ .

We denote by  $\ell_s$  the left translation  $\ell_s: m(S) \to m(S)$  defined by

$$\ell_s f(s') = f(ss')$$

for any  $s, s' \in S$ , and  $f \in m(S)$ . In the same way, we define the right translation  $r_s: m(S) \to m(S)$  by

$$r_s f(s') = f(s's).$$

We denote by CB(S) the space of all bounded, continuous, real-valued functions on a semi-topological semigroup S. Clearly  $CB(S) \subseteq m(S)$ .

**Definition 2.2.13** (The space LUC(S)). Let S be a semi-topological semigroup. The space LUC(S) is the space of all left uniformly continuous functions on S. A function  $f \in CB(S)$  is left uniformly continuous if the map  $\theta_f : S \to CB(S)$  defined by  $\theta_f(s) = \ell_s f$  is continuous when CB(S) has the sup norm topology.

Note that when G is a topological group, the space LUC(G) is precisely the space of bounded right uniformly continuous functions on G defined in Hewitt and Ross [13].

#### 2.3 Amenability

Recall that a Banach space E is a normed linear space which is complete in the norm topology. If E is a Banach space, we define the dual space of E, denoted by  $E^*$ , to be the set of all continuous linear functionals  $\phi$  on E with the following norm:

$$||\phi|| = \sup_{||f||=1} \frac{|\phi(f)|}{||f||}.$$

It is easy to see that  $E^*$  is therefore also a Banach space (see [30] and [4]).

Remark 2.3.1. For any semigroup S, the space m(S) is a Banach space over the real number. Therefore, it makes sense to talk about  $m(S)^*$ .

We can rewrite the definition of a mean given in chapter 1 in more mathematical form in the following way: A *mean* is a linear functional  $\mu \in m(S)^*$ such that

$$\inf_{s\in S} f(s) \leq \mu(f) \leq \sup_{s\in S} f(s)$$

for all function  $f \in m(S)$ .

Does such a mean value exist ? If so, for which semigroup S can such a value be defined? This is the general idea from which the theory of amenable (A-mean-able) semigroups comes from. So let us start with the exact definition that will be used, which is equivalent to the previous one.

Let S be a semigroup. We define the map  $l_s^*$  on  $m(S)^*$  by:

$$l_s^*\mu(f) = \mu(l_s f)$$

for all  $f \in m(S), s \in S$ , and  $\mu \in m(S)^*$ , where  $l_s$  is the left translation map already defined.

**Definition 2.3.2.** Let S be a semigroup and A be a norm closed, translation invariant subspace of m(S) that contains constants. A mean on A is a linear functional  $\mu: A \to \mathbb{R}$  such that  $||\mu|| = 1$  and  $\mu(e) = 1$ , where e is the constant one function on S, and the norm is the dual norm of  $m(S)^*$  coming from m(S).

A mean  $\mu$  on A is left translation invariant if  $l_s^*\mu = \mu$  for all  $s \in S$ , where  $(l_s f)(s_0) = f(ss_0)$ . A mean  $\mu$  on A is multiplicative if  $\mu(fg) = \mu(f)\mu(g)$  for all  $f, g \in A$ .

Let S be a semigroup. We say that S is left amenable if there exists a left invariant mean on the space m(S). See Day [6] for many properties of left amenable semigroups.

**Definition 2.3.3.** Let S be a semigroup. A subalgebra of m(S) is extremely left amenable if it is norm closed, left translation invariant, containing constants, and has a multiplicative left invariant mean. S is extremely left amenable if m(S) is extremely left amenable.

Following Namioka [26], we say that a semi-topological semigroup S is left amenable if there is a left invariant mean on the space LUC(S), and similarly, we say that a semi-topological semigroup S is extremely left amenable if there exists a multiplicative left invariant mean on LUC(S). If S is a discrete semigroup, then both spaces LUC(S) and m(S) are the same, which makes the definition of (extremely) left amenable semigroup and (extremely) left amenable semi-topological semigroup to be the same, if we use the discrete topology for any semigroup which does not have a topology.

#### 2.4 Ultrafilters

When we talk about metric spaces, everything we need to do about convergence (or almost) can be done with sequences, but when we talk about convergence for topological spaces, we need to generalize the idea of convergence of sequences. Two main ideas have been developed: The notion of nets, and the notion of filters.

For our purpose, we need a special kind of filters: Ultrafilters. These are maximal filters.

**Definition 2.4.1.** A filter on a set S is a collection  $\mathscr{F}$  of subsets of S such that:

- 1. If  $F_1, F_2 \in \mathscr{F}$  then  $F_1 \cap F_2 \in \mathscr{F}$ .
- 2. If  $F_1 \in \mathscr{F}$  and  $F_1 \subseteq F_2$  then  $F_2 \in \mathscr{F}$ .

**Example 2.4.2.** If X is a topological space and x is any element of X, then a filter of a particular interest is the neighborhood filter  $U_x$  of all neighborhood of x in X.

**Definition 2.4.3.** Given a topological space X, we say that a filter  $\mathscr{F}$  on X converges to some  $x \in X$  if and only if  $\mathscr{F}$  is finer than the neighborhood filter of x. We say that  $\mathscr{F}$  clusters at x if x is an element of all the sets in the filter  $\mathscr{F}$ .

**Definition 2.4.4.** A filter  $\mathscr{F}$  is an ultrafilter if it is a maximal filter, i.e., if it is not properly contained in any other ultrafilter.

*Remark* 2.4.5. It is easy to see that a simple application of Zorn's lemma implies that every filter is contained in some ultrafilter.

**Proposition 2.4.6.** [32] Let S be a topological space. Then  $\mathscr{F}$  is an ultrafilter if and only if for all subsets  $E \subseteq S$  one has  $E \in \mathscr{F}$  or  $S - E \in \mathscr{F}$ .

Proof. ( $\Leftarrow$ ) Suppose that  $\mathscr{F}$  is a filter such that for all  $E \subseteq S$  we have  $E \in \mathscr{F}$ or  $(S - E) \in \mathscr{F}$ , and suppose that  $\mathscr{F}$  is included in some ultrafilter  $\mathscr{F}$ . Let  $E_2$  be an element of  $\mathscr{F}$  which is not in  $\mathscr{F}$ . Therefore by hypothesis,  $(S - E_2)$ is in  $\mathscr{F}$  and by inclusion we have that  $S - E_2$  is also in  $\mathscr{F}$ . It follows that  $E_2 \cap (S - E_2) = \emptyset$  is in  $\mathscr{F}$  contradicting the fact that  $\mathscr{F}$  is an ultrafilter. Therefore,  $\mathscr{F}$  is already an ultrafilter.

 $(\Rightarrow)$  Now suppose that  $\mathscr{F}$  is an ultrafilter, but there exists a subset  $E \subset S$  such that both E and (S - E) are not in  $\mathscr{F}$ . Then  $\mathscr{F} \cup \{E\}$  generate a filter which properly contains  $\mathscr{F}$ . This contradicts the fact that  $\mathscr{F}$  is an ultrafilter, and the proof is complete.

**Proposition 2.4.7.** Let S be a set,  $\mathscr{F}$  be an ultrafilter on S and  $S_1, S_2$  be two subsets of S. Suppose  $S_1 \cup S_2$  is in  $\mathscr{F}$ . Then at least one of  $S_1$  or  $S_2$  is in  $\mathscr{F}$ .

*Proof.* Without loss of generality, we can assume  $S_1$  is not in  $\mathscr{F}$ . This is clear because if  $S_1$  is already in  $\mathscr{F}$ , there is nothing to be proved. Then proposition 2.4.6 implies that  $S - S_1$  is in  $\mathscr{F}$ , and by the first property of a filter we have that

$$(S_1 \cup S_2) \cap (S - S_1) = (S_1 \cup S_2) - S_1 \in \mathscr{F}.$$

Finally since

$$(S_1 \cup S_2) - S_1 \subseteq S_2,$$

it follows that  $S_2 \in \mathscr{F}$ .

It is also possible to prove the previous result using the maximality of an ultrafilter. In that case we need to prove that if A is not in  $\mathscr{F}$ , then there exists  $C \in \mathscr{F}$  which does not intersect with A. Therefore we have:

$$C \cap (A \cup B) = (C \cap A) \cup (C \cap B) = (C \cap B) \subseteq B \in \mathscr{F}$$

To prove that such C exists, construct the sets

$$\mathscr{F}_0 = \{C \cap A : C \in \mathscr{F}\}$$

and

$$\mathscr{F}_1 = \{ D \subseteq S : \exists C \in \mathscr{F}_0, C \subseteq D \}.$$

Since  $\mathscr{F}_1$  does not contain the empty set, it is an ultrafilter and since  $\mathscr{F} \subseteq \mathscr{F}_1$  this contradicts the maximality of  $\mathscr{F}$ . Therefore, such C exists.

## 2.5 Stone-Čech and Bohr compactifications

In this section, we define the Stone-Čech compactification of a semigroup, and the Bohr compactification of an abelian group.

Let S be a semigroup, then we define the first Arens product  $\odot$  on  $m(S)^*$ in the following way: Let  $\mu$  and  $\nu$  be two functionals in  $m(S)^*$  then

$$(\mu \odot \nu)(f) = \mu(\nu'(f))$$

where

$$\nu'(f(s)) = \nu(l_s f).$$

The Arens product is associative, distributive, and weak\*-weak\* continuous in the first variable. We also have:

$$||\mu \odot \nu|| \le ||\mu|| \cdot ||\nu||$$

which makes  $m(S)^*$  a Banach algebra. For more information on the Arens product, see [1].

**Definition 2.5.1.** Let S be a semigroup. We define the Stone-Čech compactification of S to be the set  $\beta S$  of all multiplicative linear functionals on m(S) with the Arens product and the weak\* topology. Equivalently,  $\beta S$  is the spectrum of the commutative Banach algebra m(S).

 $\beta S$  is compact with this topology, and  $\beta S$  is also a semigroup since the Arens product is associative. However  $\beta S$  is not a semi-topological semigroup in general. When S is a cancellative semigroup, then  $\beta S$  is a semi-topological semigroup if and only if S is finite [21] or [5].

We also have the following embedding of S into  $\beta S$ : If  $s \in S$  then we have

 $s \rightarrow \varepsilon_s$ 

defined by

$$\varepsilon_s(f) = f(s).$$

Which gives  $\varepsilon_s \in \beta S$ .

**Proposition 2.5.2.** [28] Let  $\beta S$  be the Stone-Čech compactification of the semigroup S, and let  $a \in \beta S$ . Then the function  $\mu \in m(S)^*$  defined by  $\mu(f) = \tilde{f}(a)$  where  $\tilde{f}$  is the unique extension of f to  $\beta S$  is a multiplicative mean on m(S).

For more information on the Stone-Čech compactification, see [5] and [14]. We now want to define the Bohr compactification of a locally compact abelian group which will be useful in the next section. Let  $(G, \star)$  be a locally compact abelian group. A character of G is a function  $\gamma: G \to \mathbb{C}$  for which  $|\gamma(x)| = 1$ for all  $x \in G$ , and

$$\gamma(x)\gamma(y) = \gamma(x \star y).$$

Let  $\hat{G}$  be the set of all continuous characters of G. Then  $(\hat{G}, +)$  is an abelian group if we define the addition by:

$$(\gamma_1 + \gamma_2)(x) = \gamma_1(x)\gamma_2(x)$$

for all  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in \hat{G}$ , and  $x \in G$ . This group with the topology of uniform convergence on compact subset is a locally compact abelian group called the dual group of G. As well known, if G is any locally compact abelian group, then  $\hat{G} = G$ . See [29].

Since G is a locally compact abelian group, there exists a unique Haar measure (up to multiplication by a positive scalar) on G, and therefore we can talk about  $L^1(G)$ : the Banach algebra of all integrable functions on G with the convolution product. For any function  $f \in L^1(G)$ , we define its Fourier transform by:

$$\hat{f}(\gamma) = \int_G f(x)\gamma(-x)dx.$$

We define the Fourier algebra  $A(\hat{G})$  by:

$$A(\hat{G})=\{\hat{f}:f\in L^1(G)\}.$$

The topology on  $\hat{G}$  is precisely the weak<sup>\*</sup> topology defined by  $L^1(G)$ .

We can prove that if G is discrete, then  $\hat{G}$  is compact, and if G is compact, then  $\hat{G}$  is discrete [29].

Now let  $\hat{G}_d$  be the group  $\hat{G}$  with the discrete topology and therefore the dual group of  $\hat{G}_d$  is a compact abelian group. Also, it can be verified that G is contained in the dual group of  $\hat{G}_d$ . The Bohr compactification  $\overline{G}$  of the abelian group G is the dual group of  $\hat{G}_d$ .

### 2.6 Discrete semigroups

Let S be a semigroup, and let X be a compact Hausdorff space. A representation of S as continuous mapping from X into X is a semigroup homomorphism

$$\Phi: S \to C(X, X),$$

where C(X, X) is the set of continuous functions from X into X with composition. Recall that  $\Phi$  is a semigroup homomorphism if

$$\Phi(s_1s_2) = \Phi(s_1)\Phi(s_2)$$

for all  $s_1, s_2 \in S$ .

Let S be a semigroup. We say that S has the common fixed point property on compacta if for every compact Hausdorff space X and every representation  $\Phi$  of S as continuous mapping from X into itself, there exists a common fixed point of the family  $\Phi$ .

Two elements  $s_1, s_2 \in S$  have a common right zero if there exists an element  $s_3 \in S$  such that:

$$s_1 s_3 = s_2 s_3 = s_3.$$

Finally a subset  $A \subseteq S$  is *left thick* in S if for every finite subset  $\sigma \subseteq S$  there exists  $s \in S$  such that  $\sigma s \subseteq A$ . Mitchell [22] has proven that if A is left thick then we can choose s to be in A without changing the definition of left thick subsets.

**Theorem 2.6.1.** [22] If V is any subset of a left amenable semigroup S, then V is left thick in S if and only if there exists a left invariant mean on S whose value on the characteristic function of V is one.

**Lemma 2.6.2.** [23] Let S be a semigroup and let  $\eta : S \to \Phi$  be a homomorphism of S onto  $\Phi$ , where  $\Phi$  is a semigroup of continuous maps from X into X. If  $y \in X$  then there exists  $y_0 \in X$  such that for every open neighborhood U of  $y_0$ ,  $U \subseteq X$ , the set

$$\{s \in S : (\eta s)y \in U\}$$

is left thick in S.

**Theorem 2.6.3.** Let S be a semigroup. Then the following are equivalent (see [23], [10], and [16]):

- (a) S is extremely left amenable.
- (b) Whenever  $A \subset S$  is left thick in S and  $A = A_1 \cup A_2$ , then at least one of  $A_1, A_2$  is left thick in S.
- (c) For each finite collection of subsets  $A_i \subset S$  such that  $S = \bigcup A_i$ , then at least one of the  $A_i$  is left thick in S.
- (d) S has the fixed point property on compacta.
- (e) Each two elements of S has a common right zero.
- (f)  $\beta(S)$  has a right zero.
- (g) For each subset  $E \subset S$ , either E is left thick in S or S E is left thick in S.

#### Proof.

 $(a \Rightarrow b)$  We want to make use of theorem 2.6.1, so we need to construct a multiplicative left invariant mean on S whose value on the characteristic function of  $A_1$  or  $A_2$  is 1. Let  $\mu$  be a multiplicative left invariant mean on S, and let  $\{B_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma}$  be the collection of all finite subsets of S directed by inclusion. Therefore, since A is left thick in S, for all  $A_{\gamma}$  there exists  $s_{\gamma} \in S$  such that  $B_{\gamma}s_{\gamma} \subseteq A$ . Let  $Q : S \to \beta S$  be the map defined by Qs(f) = f(s) for all  $f \in m(S)$ . Therefore, by  $w^*$ -compactness of  $\beta S$  it follows that there exists a subnet  $\{Qs_{\delta}\}_{\delta}$  of  $\{Qs_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma}$  which is  $w^*$ -convergent to some  $\mu_1 \in \beta S$ . Let

$$\mu_2 = \mu \odot \mu_1.$$

Since the Arens product of two multiplicative means is a multiplicative mean and since  $\mu$  is left invariant, it follows that  $\mu_2$  is a multiplicative left invariant mean on S. If we want to show that  $\mu_2$  is the multiplicative left invariant mean we need to apply theorem 2.6.1. We have that for any  $s \in S$ :

$$\mu'_{1}(1_{A})(s) = \mu_{1}(\ell_{s}1_{A})$$

$$= w^{*} - \lim_{\delta} \left( Qs_{\delta}(\ell_{s}1_{A}) \right)$$

$$= w^{*} - \lim_{\delta} \left( \ell_{s}1_{A} \right)(s_{\delta})$$

$$= w^{*} - \lim_{\delta} \left( 1_{A}(ss_{\delta}) \right)$$

$$= 1.$$

This last equality follows from the fact that any  $s \in S$  is eventually in some of the  $A_{\delta}$  which implies that  $ss_{\delta}$  is eventually in A.

$$\mu_{2}(1_{A}) = \mu \odot \mu_{1}(1_{A})$$
$$= \mu(\mu'_{1}(1_{A}))$$
$$= \mu(1_{S})$$
$$= 1.$$

Now, since  $\mu_2$  is a multiplicative mean, its value on characteristic functions is 0 or 1, and since

$$1 = \mu_2(1_A) \le \mu_2(1_{A_1}) + \mu_2(1_{A_2}),$$

it follows by applying theorem 2.6.1 that at least one of  $A_1$  or  $A_2$  is left thick in S.

 $(b \Rightarrow c)$  Let

$$S = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} A_i,$$

where  $A_i \subseteq S$  for all *i*. If n = 2, by (b) we know that at least one of  $A_1$  or  $A_2$  would be left thick in S, since clearly S is left thick in itself. Now assuming

that c is true for n = k - 1, we want to show that this is still true for n = k. We have that:

$$S = A_1 \cup \left( \bigcup_{i=2}^{k-1} A_i \right).$$

Therefore, by (b) at least one of  $A_1$  or  $\bigcup_{i=2}^{k-1} A_i$  is left thick in S. In both cases, this implies that at least one of the  $A_i$  is left thick in S by the induction hypothesis.

 $(c \Rightarrow d)$  Let  $\eta: S \to \Phi$  be a homomorphism onto, where  $\Phi$  is a semigroup of continuous maps from a compact Hausdorff space X into itself. Let y be any element of X. We denote by  $\Gamma$  the family of all finite subsets  $A_{\gamma}$  of S directed upwards by inclusion and denote by  $\Delta$  the family of all open neighborhoods  $Y_{\delta}$  of  $y_0$  directed downwards by inclusion, where  $y_0$  is coming from lemma 2.6.2. Let

$$B_{\delta} = \{ s \in S : (\eta(s))y \in Y_{\delta} \}.$$

For all  $\psi = (\gamma, \delta)$ , there exists  $s_{\psi} \in S$  such that

$$A_{\gamma}s_{\psi}\subseteq B_{\delta}.$$

Therefore, for any  $s \in S$ , the net  $ss_{\psi}$  is eventually in each  $B_{\delta}$ , which implies that the net  $\eta(ss_{\psi})y$  is eventually in each  $Y_{\delta}$ . Thus we have for all  $s \in S$ :

$$y_0 = \lim_{\psi} \eta(ss_{\psi})y_s$$

Now, if  $s_0$  is a specific element of S, then for all  $s \in S$  we have:

$$\eta(s)y_0 = \eta(s) \lim_{\psi} (\eta(s_0 s_{\psi})y)$$
$$= \lim_{\psi} (\eta(s)\eta(s_0 s_{\psi})y)$$
$$= \lim_{\psi} (\eta(ss_0 s_{\psi})y)$$
$$= \lim_{\psi} (\eta(s_0 s_{\psi})y)$$
$$= y_0.$$

Therefore,  $y_0$  is a fixed point of the family  $\Phi$ .

 $(d \Rightarrow a)$  Let  $\eta : S \to \Phi$  be the homomorphism defined by  $\eta(s) = \ell_s^*$ , where  $\Phi$  is a semigroup of continuous maps from  $\beta S$  into  $\beta S$ . Then, by (d), there is a fixed point  $\mu_0 \in \beta S$ . Therefore  $\mu_0$  is clearly a multiplicative left invariant mean for the semigroup S.

 $(a \Rightarrow e)$  On the semigroup S, we define the following congruence relation (i.e. an equivalence relation for which  $a \sim b \Rightarrow ac \sim bc$  and  $ca \sim cb$ ). For any  $a, b \in S$ :

$$a \sim b \iff$$
 there exists  $c \in S$  such that  $ac = bc$ .

For any element  $s \in S$ , we denote its equivalence class by  $\dot{s}$ . Let

$$\dot{S} = \{ \dot{s} : s \in S \}$$

and let

 $F:S\to \dot{S}$ 

be the homomorphism defined by  $F(s) = \dot{s}$  for any  $s \in S$ . Then  $\dot{S}$  is a right cancellative extremely left amenable semigroup. By [10, corollary 2], we have that  $(\dot{s})^2 = \dot{s}$  for all elements  $\dot{s} \in \dot{S}$ . Therefore, it follows that  $\dot{b}(\dot{a})^2 = \dot{b}\dot{a}$ , which implies

$$\dot{b}\dot{a}=\dot{b}$$

for all  $\dot{a}, \dot{b} \in \dot{S}$ . This implies that  $\dot{a}\dot{S} = \dot{a}$  for all  $\dot{a} \in \dot{S}$ . Therefore, if  $\dot{a}, \dot{b} \in \dot{S}$  such that  $\dot{a} \neq \dot{b}$  we have that:

$$\dot{a}\dot{S}\cap\dot{b}\dot{S}=\phi,$$

which is impossible, since any two right ideals of an extremely left amenable semigroup have a non-void intersection. This implies that  $\dot{S}$  contains only one element, and therefore each two elements of S have a common right zero.

 $(a \Rightarrow f)$  If S is extremely left amenable, then S is in particular left amenable, so we can apply [6, Corollary 4], and it follows that if  $\mu$  is a left invariant mean on S, then for any  $\phi \in \beta S$ :

$$\phi \odot \mu = \mu.$$

 $(\mathbf{c} \Rightarrow \mathbf{g})$  If E is any subset of S, then we have that:

$$S = E \cup (S - E),$$

so by applying (c), it follows that E or S - E is left thick in S.

(f  $\Rightarrow$  a) Suppose that  $\beta S$  has a right zero  $\mu$ . Then for any  $\phi \in \beta S$ , we have that:

$$\phi \odot \mu = \mu$$

and in particular, since  $1_s \in \beta S$  for any  $s \in S$ , we have that:

$$1_s \odot \mu = \mu$$

But we also have that:

$$1_s \odot \mu(f) = 1_s(\mu'(f))$$
$$= (\mu'(f))(s)$$
$$= \mu(\ell_s(f)).$$

Therefore, it follows that for all  $s \in S$ :

$$\ell_s^*\mu = \mu$$

which implies that  $\mu$  is a multiplicative left invariant mean on S.

 $(e \Rightarrow b)$  By induction, we have that for every finite subset  $A \subseteq S$  there exists  $a \in S$  such that  $Aa = \{a\}$ . Suppose S does not satisfy condition (b). Then there exists subsets  $A_1, A_2 \subseteq S$  such that  $A_1, A_2$  are not left thick in S, but the subset  $A_1 \cup A_2$  is left thick in S.

Thus there exists finite subsets  $A'_1, A'_2 \subseteq S$  such that:

$$A_1' s \not\subseteq A_1$$
$$A_2' s \not\subseteq A_2$$

for all  $s \in S$ . Let  $A' = A'_1 \cup A'_2$ . Since A' is finite, there exists  $a \in S$  such that  $A'a = \{a\}$ . But also we have that  $A_1 \cup A_2$  is left thick, so there exists an element  $b \in S$  such that  $ab \in A_1 \cup A_2$ , which implies that  $ab \in A_1$  or  $ab \in A_2$ . Assume  $ab \in A_1$  then:

$$A'_1(ab) \subseteq A'(ab) = \{ab\} \subseteq A_1,$$

which is a contradiction.

 $(g \Rightarrow a)$  For this part of the proof, see [16].

An interesting question when we are talking about semigroups, is to consider the special case when the semigroup is a group. Using the preceding theorem, one can easily prove that no group is extremely left amemable. In fact Mitchell proved a little more than that in theorem 2.6.4.

**Theorem 2.6.4.** A two-sided cancellation semigroup S is extremely left amenable if and only if S is the trivial group.

The following proof can be found in [23].

*Proof.* Suppose first that G is an abelian group which is extremely left amenable. Then G is embedded in its Bohr compactification  $\overline{G}$ . Then G acts on  $\overline{G}$  by left multiplication. Therefore the representation  $\Phi$  of G defined by:

$$\Phi(g)\overline{g} = g\overline{g}, \quad (g \in G, \overline{g} \in \overline{G})$$

has a fixed point. Therefore, there exists an element  $\overline{g_0}$  in  $\overline{G}$  such that  $g\overline{g_0} = \overline{g_0}$  for all g in G. But since G is a group, we can simplify, which gives g = e for all  $g \in G$ , where e is the identity in G. Therefore G is the trivial group.

Now, suppose G is an extremely amenable groupimplies that there (not necessary abelian), and let H be a subgroup of G generated by only one

element of G. Therefore H is abelian, and since every closed subgroup of an extremely left amenable group is extremely left amenable, it follows that H is an extremely left amenable abelian group. Therefore, by the first part of the proof, H is the trivial group. But since H could be any subgroup of G generated by one element, it follows that G is also trivial.

Finally suppose S is a two sided cancellation semigroup which is extremely left amenable. S can be embedded in some group G' [31, corollary 3.6]. Consider G the subgroup of G' generated by S, and consider  $\pi : G \to S$  to be the restriction map. Then if  $\mu$  is a multiplicative left invariant mean on S then  $\pi^*\mu$  is a multiplicative left invariant mean on G. Since G is an extremely left amenable group, it is trivial. It follows that S is also trivial.

**Example 2.6.5.** Let  $(S, \lor, \land)$  be a lattice and consider the semigroup  $(S, \lor)$ . For any two elements  $s_1, s_2 \in S$ , let  $s' = s_1 \lor s_2$ . Then we have  $s_1 \lor s' = s_2 \lor s'$ , therefore by Mitchell [22, corollary 6(a)] any two elements of S have a common right zero, and by theorem 2.6.3 it follows that S is extremely left amenable [23], [10]. Recall that  $(S, \lor, \land)$  is a lattice if for any  $a, b \in S$  we have:

Commutative laws: $a \lor b = b \lor a$  $a \land b = b \land a$ Associative laws: $a \lor (b \lor c) = (a \lor b) \lor c$  $a \land (b \land c) = (a \land b) \land c$ Absorption laws: $a \lor (a \land b) = a$  $a \land (a \lor b) = a$ 

**Example 2.6.6.** [23] Let X be an infinite set, and let S be the semigroup of maps  $s : X \to X$  for which the set  $\{x \in X : s(x) \neq x\}$  is finite, with the composition of functions. Then for any  $s_1, s_2 \in S$  define the set Y by:

$$Y = \{x \in X : s_1(x) \neq x\} \cup \{x \in X : s_2(x) \neq x\}.$$

Let  $x_0 \in X - Y$ , and define the map  $s' \in S$  by:

$$s'(x) = x$$
 if  $x \in X - Y$ ,  
 $s'(x) = x_0$  if  $x \in Y$ .

Then we have

$$s_1s'=s'=s_2s'.$$

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Theorem 2.6.3 can now be applied to show that S is extremely left amenable.

### 2.7 Semi-topological semigroups

Let S be a semi-topological semigroup. Since the space m(S) does not reflect the topology of S, we use a more appropriate space than m(S) to reflect the topology of S.

**Definition 2.7.1.** Let S be a semi-topological semigroup. Then S is extremely left amenable if the space LUC(S) has a multiplicative left invariant mean.

**Lemma 2.7.2.** [26] Let S be a semi-topological semigroup. Then LUC(S) is a translation-invariant closed sub-algebra of m(S) that contains the constant functions.

**Theorem 2.7.3.** If G is a locally compact group, then G is extremely left amenable if and only if G is the trivial group.

The proof of this result is due to Granirer and Lau [11] and will not be given here. However, many topological groups are extremely left amenable.

**Example 2.7.4.** [12] The unitary group of an infinite dimensional Hilbert space with the strong operator topology is extremely left amenable. This is one of the first examples to have been constructed and has been found by Gromov and Milman.

**Example 2.7.5.** [9] The group  $L^0(\mathbb{I}, U(1))$  of measurable maps from the standard Lebesgue space to the circle rotation group U(1), equipped with the topology of convergence in measure, is extremely left amenable.

**Example 2.7.6.** All generalized Levy groups are extremely left amenable. For the definition of a generalized Levy group and for the proof, see [27] and [8]. Now we want to characterize which semigroups S are extremely left amenable. The following theorem is due to Mitchell [25], and it shows that like for discrete semigroups, the extreme left amenability of a semi-topological semigroup is related to some a fixed point property. But first, we need a definition and another theorem due to Mitchell.

**Definition 2.7.7.** Let S be a semigroup, X be a subset of m(S), and Y be a compact Hausdorff space. Let  $\eta : S \to \Phi$  be a homomorphism of S onto  $\Phi$  a semigroup of continuous maps from Y into Y. Then  $\Phi$  is a *D*-representation of S, X on Y if the set

$$Y' = \{ y \in Y : Ty(C(Y)) \subseteq X \}$$

is dense in Y, where the map Ty is defined by:

$$(Tyh)(s) = h((\eta s)y)$$

for  $h \in C(Y)$  and  $s \in S$ . We say that S, X has the common fixed point property on compacta with respect to D-representations if, for each compact Hausdorff space Y and for each D-representation of S, X on Y, there exists in Y a common fixed point of the family  $\Phi$ .

**Theorem 2.7.8.** [24] Let S be a semi-topological semigroup and X a translation invariant closed subalgebra of m(S) that contains the constant functions. Then the following are equivalent:

- (a) X has a multiplicative left invariant mean.
- (b) S, X has the common fixed point property on compacta with respect to D-representations.

**Theorem 2.7.9.** [25] Let S be a semi-topological semigroup. Then S is extremely left amenable if and only if, whenever S acts on a compact Hausdorff space Y, where the action is jointly continuous, then there is a fixed point for S in X.

Proof.

 $(\Rightarrow)$  Let S be an extremely left amenable semi-topological semigroup, and suppose S acts on a compact Hausdorff space Y where the action is jointly continuous. Then we want to show that this action is a D-representation, which by theorem 2.7.9 implies that there is a fixed point. For any  $y \in Y$ , define the map:

$$Ty: C(Y) \to m(S)$$

by:

$$(Tyh)(s) = h(sy).$$

So we need to show that the set:

$$Y' = \Big\{ y \in Y : Ty(C(Y)) \subseteq LUC(S) \Big\}$$

is dense in Y. For any  $h \in C(Y)$  let f = Tyh. We want to show that  $f \in LUC(S)$ . Suppose not, then there exists a net  $\{s(\gamma)\}$  in S which converges to  $s \in S$  such that  $\ell_{s(\gamma)}f$  does not converge uniformly to  $\ell_s f$ . Then there exists a real number a > 0, a subnet  $\{s(\delta)\}$  of  $\{s(\gamma)\}$ , and a net  $\{t(\delta)\}$  in S such that:

$$\left|h(s(\delta)(t(\delta)y)) - h(s(t(\delta)y))\right| \ge a.$$

We denote  $t(\delta)y$  by  $y(\delta)$ . By compactness of Y, the net  $y(\delta)$  has a convergent subnet  $y(\eta)$  which converges to  $y_0 \in Y$ . Therefore we have:

$$a \leq \lim_{\eta} |h(s(\eta)y(\eta)) - h(sy(\eta))|$$
  
=  $|h(sy_0) - h(sy_0)|$   
= 0,

which is a contradiction. It follows that  $f \in LUC(S)$ , and the action is a D-representation, therefore there is a fixed point.

( $\Leftarrow$ ) Let Y be the sets of multiplicative left invariant means on LUC(S) and define the action  $S \times Y \to Y$  by:

$$s \cdot \mu = \ell_s^* \mu$$

for any  $s \in S$  and  $\mu \in Y$ . This is clearly an action, so we only need to prove that it is jointly continuous. Suppose for now that it is jointly continuous, then there exists a fixed point  $\mu_0 \in Y$ .  $\mu_0$  would then be a multiplicative left invariant mean on LUC(S) which shows that if the action if jointly continuous, then S is extremely left amenable.

Now to prove that the action is jointly continuous, let  $\{s(\gamma)\}$  and  $\{\mu(\delta)\}$  be a net respectively in S and Y, such that  $s(\gamma) \to s$  and  $\mu(\delta) \to \mu$ . Then for any  $f \in LUC(S)$  we have:

$$0 \leq \lim_{\gamma,\delta} \left| (s(\gamma) \cdot \mu(\delta))f - (s \cdot \mu)f \right|$$
  
= 
$$\lim_{\gamma,\delta} \left| (\mu(\delta)(\ell_{s(\gamma)}f - \ell_s f)) + ((\mu(\delta) - \mu)\ell_s f) \right|$$
  
$$\leq \lim_{\gamma} ||\ell_{s(\gamma)}f - \ell_s f|| + \lim_{\delta} |\mu(\delta) - \mu)\ell_s f|$$
  
= 0.

Therefore:

$$s(\gamma) \cdot \mu(\delta) \to s \cdot \mu,$$

which proves that the action is jointly continuous.

## **2.8 Subalgebras of** m(S)

When S is a semi-topological semigroup, we have already defined the space LUC(S) of left uniformly continuous functions on S.

In the same way in which we defined the space LUC(S), we can define the space RUC(S) of right uniformly continuous functions on a semigroup S. We do that in the obvious way by changing the left shift by the right shift in the definition of the left uniformly continuous functions. Using these two spaces, we can now define the space UC(S) of uniformly continuous functions by taking the intersection between these two spaces.

**Definition 2.8.1.** The space of uniformly continuous functions UC(S) is the intersection between both spaces LUC(S) and RUC(S):

$$UC(S) = LUC(S) \cap RUC(S).$$

By changing the topology in the definition of the space of left uniformly continuous functions on S, we can also define the space of weak left uniformly continuous functions WLUC(S):

**Definition 2.8.2.** Let S be a semi-topological semigroup, and let f be a function in m(S). Then f is weakly left uniformly continuous (i.e.  $f \in WLUC(S)$ ) if the map  $\theta_s : f \to l_s f$  is continuous in the weak topology of m(S).

From these definitions, it is easily noticeable that we have the following inclusion between m(S), LUC(S), WLUC(S) and UC(S):

$$UC(S) \subseteq LUC(S) \subseteq WLUC(S) \subseteq m(S).$$

In particular, if S is a discrete semigroup we have that all these spaces are actually identical:

$$UC(S) = LUC(S) = RUC(S) = WLUC(S) = m(S).$$

### 2.9 Action of semigroup

A left action of a semigroup S on a topological space X is a mapping  $S \times X \to X$  denoted by  $(s, x) \to s \cdot x$ ,  $s \in S, x \in X$  such that:

- $f_s: X \to X$  defined by  $f_s(x) = s \cdot x$  is continuous for each  $s \in S$ .
- $(st) \cdot x = s(t \cdot x)$  for all  $s, t \in S$  and all  $x \in X$ .

Similarly, we can define the right action  $X \times S = X$  of a semigroup. When we have an action of a semigroup S on a topological space X, we can define the left and right action of a function  $f \in CB(X)$  by an element  $s \in S$  in the following way:

- ${}_{s}f(x) = f(s \cdot x), \ x \in X$ , for the left action.
- ${}^{s}f(x) = f(x \cdot s), x \in X$ , for the right action.

Let S be a semigroup that acts on a Hausdorff space X. A closed subalgebra A of m(X) is said to be S-translation invariant if for each  $f \in A$  and  $s \in S$  we have  $sf \in A$ .

Using the definition of left action, we can define the space of left uniformly continuous functions LUC(S, X) (or in the same way, the space of right uniformly functions) in the following way:

**Definition 2.9.1.** Let S be a semigroup which acts on X a topological space. Let f be a function in the space CB(X) of bounded continuous real valued functions on S. Then f is left uniformly continuous if the map:

 $s \rightarrow {}_{s}f$ 

is continuous in the norm topology of CB(X).

Notice that LUC(S, X) is S-translation subalgebra of m(X) for any semigroup S which acts on a Hausdorff space X.

**Definition 2.9.2.** Let S be a semigroup which acts on a topological space X, let A be a S-translation invariant closed subalgebra of m(X), and let  $\mu \in A^*$  be a mean on A. Then we say that  $\mu$  is S-translation invariant if  $\mu({}_sf) = \mu(f)$  for all functions  $f \in LUC(S, X)$ .

If S is a semi-topological semigroup which acts on itself by left action, then both spaces LUC(S) and LUC(S, S) coincide. As a reference for this section, we suggest the book [2] which inspired the work in this section.

### 2.10 n-extreme left amenability

A way to extend the notion of extremely left amenable semigroup is to consider n-extreme left amenability. Instead of considering the existence of a left invariant mean, we will consider the existence of a set of n means which is invariant by left translation. See [18] and [17].

**Definition 2.10.1.** A semigroup S is n-extremely left amenable if there exists a subset F of  $\beta(S)$  such that |F| = n and F is minimal with respect to the property  $\ell_a^*(F) = F$  for all  $a \in S$ .

Remark 2.10.2. Suppose there exist two subsets  $F_1$  and  $F_2$  of  $\beta(S)$  which are minimal with respect to the property  $\ell_a^*(F_i) = F_i$  for i = 1, 2 and for all  $a \in S$ . Then  $|F_1| = |F_2|$ .

**Proposition 2.10.3.** A semigroup S is k-extremely left amenable for some  $k \leq n$  if and only if there exists a left invariant mean on m(S) which is the convex combination of n multiplicative means.

Let us now give some examples of semigroups which are n-extremely left amenable:

**Example 2.10.4.** [18] Let S be a finite group of order n, then S is n-extremely left amenable.

**Example 2.10.5.** [18] If S is a left amenable finite semigroup, then S is n-extremely left amenable for some integer n.

**Example 2.10.6.** [18] If S is any extremely left amenable semigroup, and G a group of order n, then  $S \times G$  is n-extremely left amenable.

It is easy to see that all groups of order n are n-extremely left amenable. A result much harder and surprising is that we can prove that if G is a locally compact group, then the only n-extremely left amenable groups are in fact any group of order n [11]. The last example we just presented is particularly interesting, since it allow us to construct a wide variety of n-extremely left amenable semigroups.

Let S be a semi-topological semigroup, and let  $F \subseteq \beta(S)$  such that  $\ell_a^* F = F$  for all  $a \in S$ . We define an equivalence relation R by aRb if and only if  $\ell_a^* \phi = \ell_b^* \phi$  for all  $\phi \in F$ . We denote S/F the factor semigroup defined by this relation.

Let us complete this chapter by an interesting theorem on the structure of n-extremely left amenable semigroup:

**Theorem 2.10.7.** [18] If S is a semi-topological semigroup such that LUC(S)is n-extremely left amenable, then there exists a collection F of n disjoint open and closed subsets of S, with union S, such that  $1_A \in LUC(S)$  for all  $A \in F$ and F is the decomposition of S by cosets of S/H for any finite subsets  $H \subseteq \beta S$ satisfying  $L_aH = H$  for all  $a \in S$ .

# Chapter 3

# Main Results

### 3.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we will present mostly new results on extreme left amenability that we found during our research.

We start this chapter by giving a characterization of extremely left amenable semigroups using the notion of ultrafilter, a notion that we defined earlier in chapter 2.

In section 3.3, we define the semi-direct product of two semigroups and present results relating the semi-direct product and extreme left amenability of semigroups.

In section 3.4 and 3.5, we explore results related to density. In section 3.2 we first find analogue results from Lau [19] related to dense subsemigroup of a topological group. We prove that these results are also valid for extreme left amenability. In section 3.4, we prove some results relating dense subsemigroup and n-extreme left amenability.

We already know that the homomorphic image of an extreme left amenable semigroup is extremely left amenable. At the end of the last section of this chapter, we prove a similar result, but for n-extremely left amenable subalgebras of CB(S).

### 3.2 Left thick subset and ultrafilters

The goal of this section is to characterize discrete semigroups which are extremely left amenable by the way of their left thick subsets by using the notion of ultrafilters.

**Theorem 3.2.1.** Consider a discrete semigroup S, and let  $\mathscr{F}$  be the collection of all left thick subsets of S. Assume that we can write:

$$\mathscr{F} = \cup_{i=1}^{n} \mathscr{F}_{i},$$

where all  $\mathscr{F}_i$  are ultrafilters. Then S is extremely left amenable.

Proof. Suppose  $S_1 \cup S_2$  is a left thick subset of S. Then  $S_1 \cup S_2$  is contained in an ultrafilter  $\mathscr{F}_i$  which contains only left thick subsets of S. By proposition 2.4.7, since  $\mathscr{F}_i$  is an ultrafilter, we know that at least one of  $S_1$  or  $S_2$  is in  $\mathscr{F}_i$ . Then at least one of  $S_1$  or  $S_2$  is left thick. From theorem 2.6.3  $(b) \Rightarrow (a)$  it follows that the semigroup S is extremely left amenable.  $\Box$ 

**Example 3.2.2.** Consider the semigoup S containing only two elements:  $S = \{a, b\}$  with the following multiplication table:

Then it is easy to see that there are only two ultrafilters on S, namely:

$$V_a = \{\{a\}, \{a, b\}\},$$
  
 $V_b = \{\{b\}, \{a, b\}\}.$ 

By the definition of the semigroup S, it is also easy to see that the only left thick subsets of S are:

$$\{a\}, \{b\} \text{ and } \{a, b\}.$$

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Therefore, we can write the set of all left thick subsets of S as the union of ultrafilter on S:

$$\{\{a\},\{b\},\{a,b\}\} = V_a \cup V_b$$

Therefore, by the theorem above, the semigroup S is extremely left amenable.

Now, we want to investigate the possibility that the converse or at least a partial converse would be true. This part of the work is inspired mostly by [28]. In particular, we correct a gap in a proof in [28].

**Lemma 3.2.3.** Consider  $\beta S$  as the Stone-Čech compactification of a semigroup S, and let  $a \in S$ . Then the set

$$V_a = \{V \cap S : V \text{ is a neighborhood of a in } \beta S\}$$

is an ultrafilter on S.

*Proof.* For a proof of this lemma, see [3]

**Lemma 3.2.4.** Let S be a semigroup, and  $\beta S$  its Stone-Čech compactification. For any element  $s \in S$  we define  $\varepsilon_s \in \beta S$  by:  $\varepsilon_s(f) = \tilde{f}(s)$  where  $\tilde{f}$  is the unique extension of  $f \in m(S)$  to  $\beta S$ . Then the map  $\tilde{\ell}_s : \beta S \to \beta S$  defined by  $\tilde{\ell}_s \mu = \varepsilon_s \odot \mu$  is the only continuous extension of  $\ell_s$  to  $\beta S$ .

**Theorem 3.2.5.** [28] If S is an extremely amenable semigroup, then there exists at least one ultrafilter on S such that all elements of this ultrafilter are left thick in S.

*Proof.* Since S is extremely left amenable, by theorem 2.6.3, we know that  $\beta S$  has a right zero. Assume a is a right zero for  $\beta S$ . Then we want to show that the ultrafilter

 $V_a = \{V \cap S : V \text{ is a neighborhood of } a \text{ in } \beta S \}$ 

contains only left thick subsets of S.

Let  $\sigma_1 \cap S$  be an element of  $V_a$ , and let  $\sigma_2$  be any finite subset of S. Then we want to find an element  $v_2 \in S$  such that  $\sigma_2 v_2 \subseteq \sigma_1$ . Since  $\sigma_2$  is finite, we can write  $\sigma_2 = \{s_1, s_2, s_3, \dots, s_n\}$ . Let W be a neighborhood of a in  $\beta S$ . Then since  $\tilde{\ell}_{s_i}$  is continuous for all  $i \in \{1, 2, 3, ..., n\}$ , we can find neighborhoods  $U_i$  of a such that  $\tilde{\ell}_{s_i}(U_i) \subseteq W$  for all  $i \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ . Let  $v_2$  be any element in  $S \cap U_1 \cap U_2 \cap ... \cap U_n$ , then  $\sigma_2 v_2 \subseteq (\sigma_1 \cap S)$ .

Remark 3.2.6. In the previous proof, the set  $S \cap U_1 \cap U_2 \cap ... \cap U_n$  was nonempty because all  $U_i$  are neighborhoods of a, therefore contain a, and a finite intersection of open sets is open. Thus  $U_1 \cap U_2 \cap ... \cap U_n$  is an open set in  $\beta S$ that contains a and therefore non-empty. Now we know that a might not be in S, but all open sets in  $\beta S$  need to intersect with some element of S. Therefore  $S \cap U_1 \cap U_2 \cap ... \cap U_n$  is non-empty.

Remark 3.2.7. Note that there is a gap in the above proof when presented in [28]. There, they chose  $v_2$  to be an element of  $W \cap U_1 \cap U_2 \cap, ..., U_n$ , but in that case, there does not seem to be any reason why  $v_2$  need to be in S.

**Theorem 3.2.8.** [28] Let S be an extremely left amenable semigroup, and let  $E \subset S$  be left thick in S. Then E is contained in some ultrafilter U which contains only left thick subsets in S.

*Proof.* Suppose S is extremely left amenable. Then there exists a right zero  $a \in \beta S$  of  $\beta S$ .

Now we want to construct the net  $x_{\sigma}$  in the following way: for each finite subset  $\sigma \subseteq S$ , let  $x_{\sigma}$  be an element of E such that  $yx_{\sigma} \in E$  for all elements yin  $\sigma$ . The index set of the net  $\{x_{\sigma} : \sigma \in I\}$  is I, the set of finite subsets of Sordered by upward inclusion.

Then  $\{x_{\sigma} : \sigma \in I\}$  as at least one cluster point. Let b be one of these cluster points and define  $\tilde{r}_b(a)$  to be the only continuous extension of the right shift map  $r_b$  of the set  $\beta S$ . Let z be defined by

$$z = \tilde{r}_b(a).$$

Then the set

 $V_z = \{V \cap S : V \text{ is a neighborhood of } z \text{ in } \beta S\}$ 

is an ultrafilter which contains only left thick subsets of S.

# 3.3 Semidirect product and extreme left amenability

We begin this section by defining the notion of a semidirect product of two semigroups. We will give some results relating this product to extreme left amenability.

Let U and T be two semigroups. Then the direct product of U and T is defined to be the set:

$$S = U \times T = \{(u, t) : u \in U, t \in T\}$$

with the product:

$$(u_1, t_1)(u_2, t_2) = (u_1u_2, t_1t_2)$$

where  $u_1, u_2 \in U$  and  $t_1, t_2 \in T$ .

The semidirect product of two semigroups is a generalization of this concept. Let End(U) denote the set of all endomorphisms of U, let Sur(U)denotes the set of all surjective endomorphisms of U, and let  $\rho$  be an homomorphism  $\rho: T \to End(U)$ .

The semidirect product  $U \rtimes_{\rho} T$  is the direct product, with multiplication defined by:

$$(u_1, t_1)(u_2, t_2) = (u_1 \rho_{t_1}(u_2), t_1 t_2)$$

for any  $(u_1, t_1)$  and  $(u_2, t_2)$  in S. It is easy to show that the set  $U \times T$  with this product is a semigroup.

Now, we want to see how we can relate the semidirect product and extreme left amenability. First we need to introduce some notation. Let U and T be two semigroups, and let  $\rho$  be a homomorphism  $\rho : T \to End(U)$ . We will usually write  $\rho_a$  instead of  $\rho(a)$ , and we define for all  $a \in T$  the linear operator  $P_a$  on m(U) by:

$$P_a g(u) = g(\rho_a u).$$

We define  $P_a^*$  to be the adjoint operator, i.e.,

$$P_a^*\mu(g) = \mu(P_ag).$$

In Klawe [15] it has been proved that:

**Theorem 3.3.1.** If U and T are two left amenable semigroups with a homomorphism  $\rho : T \to Sur(U)$ , then the semigroup  $S = U \rtimes_{\rho} T$  is also left amenable.

The proof of this theorem is based on the following lemma, which can also be found in [15]:

**Lemma 3.3.2.** If U and T are left amenable semigroups with a homomorphism  $\rho: T \to Sur(U)$ , then there exists a left invariant mean  $\phi$  on m(U) such that  $P_a^*\phi = \phi$  for each  $a \in T$ .

Now we want to relate this result to extremely left amenable semigroups. If U and T are two extremely left amenable semigroups, then from the previous lemma we know that there exists a left invariant mean  $\phi$  on m(U) such that  $P_a^*\phi = \phi$  for all  $a \in T$ . Suppose that we can choose this mean to be also multiplicative, then we have the following result:

**Theorem 3.3.3.** Let U and T be two extremely left amenable semigroups, and let  $\rho$  be a homomorphism  $\rho: T \to Sur(U)$ . Assume that there exists a multiplicative left invariant mean  $\phi$  on m(U) such that  $P_a^*\phi = \phi$  for all  $a \in T$ . Then the semigroup  $S = U \rtimes_a T$  is extremely left amenable.

Proof. Let  $\nu$  be a multiplicative left invariant mean on m(T) and define for all  $f \in m(S)$  the function  $\overline{f}$  on m(T) by  $\overline{f}(a) = \phi(f_a)$ , where  $f_a(u) = f(u, a)$ . Then we want to show that  $\mu \in m(S)^*$  defined by  $\mu(f) = \nu(\overline{f})$  for all  $f \in m(S)$ is a multiplicative left invariant mean on m(S), which will show that S is also extremely left amenable.

First, we want to show that  $\mu$  is a mean. If  $f \in m(S)$ , then we have:

$$||f|| = \sup_{(u,a)\in S} |f(u,a)| \ge \sup_{u\in U} |f_a(u)| = ||f_a||$$

and clearly we have:

$$||f|| = \sup_{a \in T} ||f_a||$$

From that equality, it follows that for  $f \in m(S)$  we have:

$$||\overline{f}|| = \sup_{a \in T} |\overline{f}(a)|$$
  
$$= \sup_{a \in T} |\phi(f_a)|$$
  
$$\leq \sup_{a \in T} ||\phi|| \cdot ||f_a||$$
  
$$= \sup_{a \in T} ||f_a||$$
  
$$= ||f||.$$

Finally, this implies that:

$$\begin{aligned} ||\mu|| &= \sup_{||f||=1} |\mu(f)| \\ &= \sup_{||f||=1} |\nu(\overline{f})| \\ &= \sup_{||\overline{f}|| \le 1} |\nu(\overline{f})| \\ &= ||\nu|| \\ &= 1, \end{aligned}$$

which proves that  $\mu$  is a mean, since clearly  $\mu(e) = 1$ .

We now want to show that  $\mu$  is multiplicative. Let f, g be two functions in m(S), and let  $a \in T, u \in U$  then we have:

$$(fg)_a(u) = (fg)(u, a) = f(u, a)g(u, a) = f_a(u)g_a(u),$$

which implies that we also have:

$$\overline{fg}(a) = \phi((fg)_a) = \phi(f_ag_a) = \phi(f_a)\phi(g_a) = \overline{f}(a)\overline{g}(a).$$

It follows that:

$$\mu(fg) = \nu(\overline{fg}) = \nu(\overline{fg}) = \nu(\overline{f})\nu(\overline{g}) = \mu(f)\mu(g)$$

which shows that  $\mu$  is multiplicative. We now need to show that  $\mu$  is also left

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

invariant, which will prove that S is extremely left amenable. We notice that:

Therefore, we also have that:

$$\overline{\ell_{(v,b)}f}(a) = \phi(P_b\ell_v f_{ba}) = \phi(f_{ba}) = \ell_b\overline{f}(a),$$

which finally implies that:

$$\mu(\ell_{(v,b)}f) = \nu(\overline{\ell_{(v,b)}f}) = \nu(\ell_b\overline{f}) = \nu(\overline{f})\mu(f),$$

which proves that S is extremely left amenable.

**Theorem 3.3.4.** Let U and T be semigroups, and let  $\rho : T \to End(U)$  be a homomorphism. Then, if  $S = U \rtimes T$  is extremely left amenable, both T and U are extremely left amenable.

*Proof.* For T, this follows directly from the fact that the map  $\sigma_1 : S \to T$  defined by  $\sigma_1(u, a) = a$  is a surjective homomorphism.

Now to show that U is extremely left amenable, we can suppose without loss of generality that T has a two-sided identity (see [15, Remark 3.7]). For each  $f \in m(U)$ , we define  $\tilde{f} \in m(S)$  by:

$$ilde{f}(u,a)=f(u)$$

for  $u \in U$  and  $a \in T$ . Then, it is easy to see that we have:

$$(\ell_v f)^{\tilde{}} = \ell_{(v,1)}\tilde{f}.$$

Let  $\nu$  be a multiplicative left invariant mean on m(S), then we define  $\mu \in m(U)^*$  by:

$$\mu(f) = \nu(f)$$

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

and this is easy to see that  $\mu$  is a multiplicative left invariant mean on m(U) since:

$$\mu(\ell_v f) = \nu((\ell_v f)^{\tilde{}}) = \nu(\ell_{(v,1)}\tilde{f}) = \nu(\tilde{f}) = \mu(f),$$
  
$$\mu(fg) = \nu((fg)^{\tilde{}}) = \nu(\tilde{f}\tilde{g}) = \nu(\tilde{f})\nu(\tilde{g}) = \mu(f)\mu(g).$$

### 3.4 Dense subsemigroup of a topological group

Let S be a topological semigroup which is a dense semigroup of a topological group G. It is easy to see that if UC(S) has a multiplicative left invariant mean, then UC(G) has one too. Just notice that if f is a function in UC(G), then the restriction of f to S is a function in UC(S). Therefore, we can define a multiplicative left invariant mean  $\tilde{\mu}$  on UC(G) by:

$$\tilde{\mu}(f) = \mu(f|_S),$$

where  $\mu$  is a multiplicative left invariant mean on UC(S) and f is a function in UC(G). What we want to do in this section is go further by proving a partial converse to this result. This has been done by Lau in [19] for the case when UC(G) has a left invariant mean. First we need to recall the definition of the finite intersection property for left (right) ideals and give a lemma, from [19].

**Definition 3.4.1** (Finite intersection property for right ideals). Let S be a semigroup. We say that S has the finite intersection property for right ideals if any finite collection of right ideals of S has a non-empty intersection. We can define in the same way the finite intersection property for left ideals.

**Lemma 3.4.2.** If S is a dense subsemigroup of a topological group G then:

- 1. For each  $f \in UC(S)$ , there exists  $F \in CB(G)$  such that  $F|_S = f$ .
- 2. If S has the finite intersection property for right ideals, then for each  $f \in UC(S)$ , there exists  $F \in LUC(G)$  such that  $F|_S = f$ .

If S has the finite intersection property for right ideals and has the finite intersection property for left ideals, then for each f ∈ UC(S) there exists F ∈ UC(G) such that F|<sub>S</sub> = f.

**Theorem 3.4.3.** Let G be a topological group, and S be a dense subsemigroup of G. If CB(G) has a multiplicative left invariant mean, then UC(S) has a multiplicative left invariant mean as well.

Proof. From lemma 3.4.2 we know that if  $f \in UC(S)$  there exists a unique function  $\tilde{f} \in UC(G)$  such that  $\tilde{f}|_S = f$ . Let  $\varphi$  be a multiplicative left invariant mean on CB(G) and define  $\tilde{\varphi} \in UC(S)^*$  by  $\tilde{\varphi}(f) = \varphi(\tilde{f})$ . We want to prove that  $\tilde{\varphi}$  is a multiplicative left invariant mean on UC(S). First, because of the way we define  $\tilde{\varphi}$ , it is easy to see that

$$||\tilde{\varphi}|| = ||\varphi|| = 1$$

and

$$\tilde{\varphi}(1_G) = \varphi(1_S) = 1.$$

Therefore,  $\tilde{\varphi}$  is a mean on UC(S). Now we want to show that  $\tilde{\varphi}$  is left invariant: We first notice that if  $f \in C(S)$  and  $s \in S$  then we have:

$$l_s \tilde{f} = l_s f = l_s \tilde{f}.$$

Therefore, we have:

$$ilde{arphi}(l_s f) = arphi(l_s f)^{\tilde{}} = arphi(l_s \tilde{f}) = arphi(\tilde{f}) = ilde{arphi}(f).$$

It follows that  $\tilde{\varphi}$  is left invariant. So the only thing we need to prove is that  $\tilde{\varphi}$  is also multiplicative. If f and g are two functions in UC(S) then  $\tilde{f}, \tilde{g}$  and  $\tilde{f}g$  are all functions in UC(G). Moreover  $\tilde{f}\tilde{g} = (fg)^{\tilde{}}$ . This implies that

$$\tilde{\varphi}(fg) = \tilde{\varphi}(f)\tilde{\varphi}(g).$$

Therefore  $\tilde{\varphi}$  is a multiplicative left invariant mean on UC(S).

It is important to notice that theorem 3.4.3 is false for a general semitopological semigroup G even when G is a compact. As an example, consider the free semigroup on two generators with the discrete topology, and G = $S \cup \{z\}$  be the one point compactification of S, where tz = zt = z for all  $t \in G$ . Then CB(G) has a multiplicative left invariant mean, but UC(S) does not even have a left invariant mean [25].

**Theorem 3.4.4.** Let G be a topological group, and S be a dense subsemigroup of G. If LUC(G) has a multiplicative left invariant mean, and S has finite intersection property for right ideals, then UC(S) has a multiplicative left invariant mean too.

Proof. From lemma 3.4.2, we know that if  $f \in UC(S)$  and S has the finite intersection property for right ideals, there exists a unique function  $\tilde{f} \in LUC(G)$ such that  $\tilde{f}|_S = f$ . Let  $\varphi$  be a multiplicative left invariant mean on LUC(G)and define  $\tilde{\varphi} \in UC(S)^*$  by  $\tilde{\varphi}(f) = \varphi(\tilde{f})$ . We want to prove that  $\tilde{\varphi}$  is a multiplicative left invariant mean on UC(S). First, because of the way we define  $\tilde{\varphi}$ , it is easy to see that

 $||\tilde{\varphi}|| = ||\varphi|| = 1$ 

and

$$\tilde{\varphi}(1_G) = \varphi(1_S) = 1.$$

Therefore,  $\tilde{\varphi}$  is a mean on UC(S). Now we want to show that  $\tilde{\varphi}$  is left invariant: We first notice that if  $f \in LUC(S)$  and  $s \in S$  then we have

$$l_s \tilde{f} = l_s f = l_s \tilde{f}.$$

Therefore, we have:

$$ilde{arphi}(l_s f) = arphi(l_s f)\ \widetilde{} = arphi(l_s \widetilde{f}) = arphi(\widetilde{f}) = \widetilde{arphi}(f).$$

It follows that  $\tilde{\varphi}$  is left invariant. The only thing that we need to prove is that  $\tilde{\varphi}$  is also multiplicative. If f and g are two functions in UC(S) then we have

 $\tilde{f}, \tilde{g}$  and  $\tilde{f}g$  are all functions in UC(G) and moreover we have  $\tilde{f}\tilde{g} = (fg)$ <sup>~</sup>. This implies that

$$\tilde{\varphi}(fg) = \tilde{\varphi}(f)\tilde{\varphi}(g).$$

Therefore  $\tilde{\varphi}$  is a multiplicative left invariant mean on UC(S).

**Theorem 3.4.5.** Let G be a topological group, and S be a dense subsemigroup of G. If UC(G) has a multiplicative left invariant mean, and S has the finite intersection property for right ideals and finite intersection property for left ideals, then UC(S) has a multiplicative left invariant mean.

Proof. From lemma 3.4.2, we know that if  $f \in UC(S)$  and S has the finite intersection property for right and left ideals, then there exists a unique function  $\tilde{f} \in UC(G)$  such that  $\tilde{f}|_S = f$ . Let  $\varphi$  be a multiplicative left invariant mean on UC(G) and define  $\tilde{\varphi} \in UC(S)^*$  by  $\tilde{\varphi}(f) = \varphi(\tilde{f})$ . We want to prove that  $\tilde{\varphi}$  is a multiplicative left invariant mean on UC(S). First, because the way we define  $\tilde{\varphi}$ , it is easy to see that

$$||\tilde{\varphi}|| = ||\varphi|| = 1$$

and

$$\tilde{\varphi}(1_G) = \varphi(1_S) = 1.$$

Therefore,  $\tilde{\varphi}$  is a mean on UC(S). Now we want to show that  $\tilde{\varphi}$  is left invariant: We first notice that if  $f \in UC(S)$  and  $s \in S$  then we have:

$$l_s \tilde{f} = l_s f = l_s \tilde{f}.$$

Therefore, we have:

$$ilde{arphi}(l_s f) = arphi(l_s f)^{\tilde{}} = arphi(l_s \tilde{f}) = arphi(\tilde{f}) = ilde{arphi}(f).$$

It follows that  $\tilde{\varphi}$  is left invariant. The only thing that we need to prove is that  $\tilde{\varphi}$  is also multiplicative. If f and g are two functions in UC(S) then we have  $\tilde{f}, \tilde{g}$  and  $\tilde{f}g$  are all functions in UC(G) and moreover we have  $\tilde{f}\tilde{g} = (fg)^{\tilde{}}$ . This implies that:

$$ilde{arphi}(fg) = ilde{arphi}(f) ilde{arphi}(g).$$

Therefore 
$$\tilde{\varphi}$$
 is a multiplicative left invariant mean on  $UC(S)$ .

In a more general way, we notice that the only thing we really need to have such theorems is some way to extend any functions from a subalgebra of CB(S) to some subalgebra of CB(G). Therefore, we have the following theorem:

**Theorem 3.4.6.** Let G be a topological group, and S be a dense subsemigroup of G. Let A be a subalgebra of CB(S), and B be a subalgebra of CB(G) such that any function of A can be extended to a function in B. We also assume that A and B are norm closed, left invariant, and contain constants. Then if A is extremely left amenable so is B.

# 3.5 Dense subsemigroup and homomorphic image of semi-topological semigroup

This section is mostly inspired by the article [20]. In this section, we first want to define the property Q(n) for some pair (S, A), where S is a semi-topological semigroup and A is a norm closed, left translation invariant algebra of m(S) that contains constants. Property Q(n) is a fixed point property that we want to link with the existence of a left invariant mean on A, which is the average of n multiplicative mean.

**Definition 3.5.1.** Let X and Y be semigroups and A, B be norm closed subspaces of m(X), m(Y) respectively containing constants. Then K[A, B] is the set of all linear transformation T from A into B such that T(1) = 1 and  $T(f) \ge 0$  if  $f \ge 0$ .

Throughout this section, S will always denote a semi-topological semigroup, and A will always denote a subalgebra of m(S) that is norm closed, left translation invariant, and contains constants.

**Definition 3.5.2.** We say that the pair (S, A) (where S and A are defined above) has property Q(n) for some  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $n \ge 1$  if whenever

$$\Phi = \{\eta(s) : s \in S\}$$

is a homomorphic representation of S as continuous mapping from a compact space Y into Y for which there exists a multiplicative function  $T \in K[C(Y), A]$ such that  ${}_{s}T(h) = T({}_{\eta(s)}h)$  for all  $a \in S$  and  $h \in C(Y)$ , then there exists a non-empty finite subset  $F \subseteq Y, |F| \leq n$  such that  $\eta(s)F = F$  for all  $s \in S$ .

We say that mean  $\mu$  is the average of k-multiplicative means for some  $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$  if there exists k multiplicative means  $\mu_1, \mu_2, ..., \mu_k$  such that

$$\mu = \frac{1}{k} \sum_{i=1}^{k} \mu_i.$$

Before giving the main result of this section, theorem 3.5.4, we need the following theorem, which can be found in [20].

**Theorem 3.5.3.** Let S be a semigroup of transformations from a set X into X, A be a norm closed S-translation invariant subalgebra of m(X) containing constants and  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ . Then A has an S-invariant mean which is the average of k-multiplicative means for some  $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$ ,  $k \leq n$  if and only if (S, A) has property Q(n)

Now we want to use the previous theorem to see what happen when we consider a dense subsemigroup of a semi-topological semigroup which has property Q(n) for some algebra. This is the main theorem of this section.

**Theorem 3.5.4.** Let S be a semi-topological semigroup which acts on a set X, and  $S_0$  be a dense subsemigroup of S. Let B be a norm closed  $S_0$ -translation invariant subalgebra of m(X) containing constants, and A be a norm closed S-translation invariant subalgebra of B. If B has a  $S_0$ -invariant mean which is the average of k-multiplicative means then A has a S-invariant mean which is the average of k-multiplicative means.

Proof. Since B has a  $S_0$ -invariant mean which is the average of k-multiplicative means, then  $(B, S_0)$  has property Q(k). Let  $\Phi = \{\eta(s) : s \in S\}$  be a homomorphic representation of S as continuous mapping from a compact space Y into Y and let  $T \in K[C(Y), A]$  such that  ${}_sT(h) = T(\eta(s)h)$  for all  $a \in S$  and  $h \in C(Y)$ . Then the restriction of  $\Phi$  to  $S_0$  is a homomorphic representation of  $S_0$  as continuous mapping from a compact space Y into Y, and T can be seen as a multiplicative function in K[C(Y), B]. Therefore by property Q(k)we have a non empty finite subset  $F \subseteq Y, |F| \leq k$  such that  $\eta(s_0)F = F$  for all  $s_0 \in S_0$ . Now we want to show that this equality is true for all  $s \in S$ , which proves the theorem. Since the set  $\{s \in S : \eta(s)F = F\}$  is closed in S and contains  $S_0$ , it is all S.

From this theorem, we can now deduce the following corollaries:

**Corollary 3.5.5.** Let S be a semi-topological semigroup, and  $S_0$  be a dense subsemigroup of S. If A is a norm closed S-translation invariant subalgebra of m(S) containing constants, and if A has a  $S_0$ -translation invariant left invariant mean which is the average of k multiplicative means, then we can extend this mean to a S-translation invariant mean which is the average of k multiplicative means.

*Proof.* Take both algebras A and B to be the same in theorem 3.5.4. The result follows directly.  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 3.5.6.** Let S be a semi-topological semigroup which acts on a set X. Let A be a norm closed, S-translation invariant subalgebra of m(X) which contains constants, and let B be a norm closed, S-translation invariant subalgebra of A which also contains constants. If A has a S-translation invariant mean which is the average of k-multiplicative means, then so has B.

*Proof.* Since any semi-topological semigroup is dense in itself, we can take  $S = S_0$  in theorem 3.5.4. The result follows directly.

In particular, we can easily deduce from the above corollary that if S is a semi-topological semigroup which is n-extremely left amenable, then any norm closed subalgebra of LUC(S) which contains constants is also k-extremely left amenable for some  $k \leq n$ . If S is discrete, then this will be true for all norm closed, left translation invariant subalgebra of m(S) contain constants, since m(S) = LUC(S) when S is discrete. Now, to conclude this section, we want to give an application of theorem 3.5.4 using a result of Pestov and Giordano, which states that any generalized Levy group is extremely left amenable. See [8] for the definition and examples of generalized Levy group.

**Corollary 3.5.7.** Suppose S is a semi-topological semigroup that contains a dense subgroup which is a generalized Levy group. Then S is extremely left amenable.

*Proof.* We know that every generalized Levy group is extremely left amenable [8]. Therefore by theorem 3.5.4, the result follows.

Our next theorem is inspired by [20]:

**Theorem 3.5.8.** Suppose  $S_1$  is a semigroup of transformations from a set X into X,  $S_2$  is a semigroup of transformations from a set Y into Y. Let  $A_1$  be a norm closed  $S_1$ -translation invariant subalgebra of m(X) containing the constants, and  $A_2$  be a norm closed  $S_2$ -translation invariant subalgebra of m(Y) containing the constants. Suppose there exists a homomorphism onto  $\nu: S_1 \to S_2$  and a multiplicative  $\alpha \in K[A_1, A_2]$ . Then if  $(S_1, A_1)$  has property Q(n), so has  $(S_2, A_2)$ 

Proof. Suppose  $(S_1, A_1)$  has property Q(n). Let  $\Phi_2 = \{\nu_2(s_2) : s_2 \in S_2\}$  be a homomorphic representation of  $S_2$  as continuous mapping from a compact space Y into Y. Suppose there exists a multiplicative  $T_2 \in K[C(Y), A_2]$  such that  $s_2T_2(h) = T_2(\eta_{2(s_2)}h)$  for all  $s_2 \in S_2$  and  $h \in C(Y)$ . Then  $\Phi_1 = \{\eta_1(s_1) :$  $s_1 \in S_1\}$ , where  $\eta_1(s_1) = \eta_2(\nu(s_1))$  is a homomorphic representation of  $S_1$  as continuous mapping from the compact space Y into Y, and  $T_1 = T_2 \circ \alpha$  is a multiplicative function in  $K[C(Y), A_1]$  such that  $s_1T_1(h) = T_1(\eta_{1(s_1)}h)$  for all  $s_1 \in S_1$  and  $h \in C(Y)$ . Therefore using property Q(n) for  $(S_1, A_1)$ , there exists a subset  $F \subseteq Y$ ,  $|F| \leq n$  such that  $\eta_1(s_1)F = F$  for all  $s_1 \in S_1$ . It follows that  $\eta_2(s_2)F = F$  for all  $s_2 \in S_2$ . Therefore,  $(S_2, A_2)$  has property Q(n).

# Chapter 4

# Conclusion

## 4.1 Summary

The theory of n-extremely left amenable semi-topological semigroups was a subject of much research in the 60's and 70's, when most of the results on this theory were developed. However, no locally compact groups can be n-extremely left amenable except for some trivial cases.

Recently, many important examples of extremely left amenable non-locally compact topological groups have been found. In particular, the paper [8] shows a method for finding many such groups and also shows links between nonlocally compact topological groups and some related subjects of mathematics. Also, many questions are still open.

### 4.2 Future work

As future work, it would be interesting to investigate futher the method used in [8] and see if it could be possible to apply it in a more general way. In particular, it would be interesting to see if it could be possible to construct something similar to Levy groups or generalized Levy groups for n-extremely left amenable topological groups. In particular it would be interesting to have an example of n-extremely left amenable groups which are not the direct product of an extremely left amenable group and a group of order n.

Finally, it would be interesting to investigate further the results of James C. S. Wong in relation to a generalization of left thick subsets and lumpy sets of M. M. Day [7] for locally semi-topological semigroups and its relation to extreme amenability. See for examples [33], [34] and [35].

# Bibliography

- Richard Arens. The adjoint of a bilinear operation. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 2:839-848, 1951.
- [2] John F. Berglund, Hugo D. Junghenn, and Paul Milnes. Analysis on semigroups. Canadian Mathematical Society Series of Monographs and Advanced Texts. John Wiley & Sons Inc., New York, 1989. Function spaces, compactifications, representations, A Wiley-Interscience Publication.
- [3] W. W. Comfort and S. Negrepontis. The theory of ultrafilters. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1974. Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 211.
- [4] John B. Conway. A course in functional analysis, volume 96 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, second edition, 1990.
- [5] H. G. Dales, A. T. Lau, and D. Strauss. Banach algebras on semigroups and their compactifications. *preprint*.
- [6] Mahlon M. Day. Amenable semigroups. Illinois J. Math., 1:509-544, 1957.
- [7] Mahlon M. Day. Left thick to left lumpy—a guided tour. Pacific J. Math., 101(1):71-92, 1982.
- [8] Thierry Giordano and Vladimir Pestov. Some extremely amenable groups related to operator algebras and ergodic theory, 2004. http://www.citebase.org/cgi-bin/citations?id=oai:arXiv.org:math/0405288.

- [9] Eli Glasner. On minimal actions of Polish groups. Topology Appl., 85(1-3):119–125, 1998. 8th Prague Topological Symposium on General Topology and Its Relations to Modern Analysis and Algebra (1996).
- [10] E. Granirer. Extremely amenable semigroups. Math. Scand., 17:177-197, 1965.
- [11] E. Granirer and Anthony To-ming Lau. Invariant means on locally compact groups. *Illinois J. Math.*, 15:249–257, 1971.
- [12] M. Gromov and V. D. Milman. A topological application of the isoperimetric inequality. Amer. J. Math., 105(4):843-854, 1983.
- [13] Edwin Hewitt and Kenneth A. Ross. Abstract harmonic analysis. Vol. I, volume 115 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, second edition, 1979. Structure of topological groups, integration theory, group representations.
- [14] Neil Hindman and Dona Strauss. Algebra in the Stone-Čech compactification, volume 27 of de Gruyter Expositions in Mathematics. Walter de Gruyter & Co., Berlin, 1998. Theory and applications.
- [15] Maria Klawe. Semidirect product of semigroups in relation to amenability, cancellation properties, and strong Følner conditions. *Pacific J. Math.*, 73(1):91– 106, 1977.
- [16] Anthony To-ming Lau. Extremely amenable algebras. Pacific J. Math., 33:329– 336, 1970.
- [17] Anthony To-ming Lau. Functional analytic properties of topological semigroups and n-extreme amenability. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 152:431-439, 1970.
- [18] Anthony To-ming Lau. Topological semigroups with invariant means in the convex hull of multiplicative means. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 148:69–84, 1970.
- [19] Anthony To-ming Lau. Invariant means on dense subsemigroups of topolgical groups. Canad. J. Math., 23:797–801, 1971.
- [20] Anthony To-ming Lau. Action of topological semigroups, invariant means, and fixed points. Studia Math., 43:139–156, 1972.

- [21] Anthony To-ming Lau. Continuity of Arens multiplication on the dual space of bounded uniformly continuous functions on locally compact groups and topological semigroups. *Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc.*, 99(2):273-283, 1986.
- [22] Theodore Mitchell. Constant functions and left invariant means on semigroups. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 119:244–261, 1965.
- [23] Theodore Mitchell. Fixed points and multiplicative left invariant means. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 122:195–202, 1966.
- [24] Theodore Mitchell. Function algebras, means, and fixed points. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 130:117-126, 1968.
- [25] Theodore Mitchell. Topological semigroups and fixed points. Illinois J. Math., 14:630-641, 1970.
- [26] I. Namioka. On certain actions of semi-groups on L-spaces. Studia Math., 29:63-77, 1967.
- [27] Vladimir Pestov. Dynamics of infinite-dimensional groups and Ramsey-type phenomena. Publicações Matemáticas do IMPA. [IMPA Mathematical Publications]. Instituto Nacional de Matemática Pura e Aplicada (IMPA), Rio de Janeiro, 2005. 25º Colóquio Brasileiro de Matemática. [25th Brazilian Mathematics Colloquium].
- [28] M. Rajagopalan and P. V. Ramakrishnan. Uses of βS in invariant means and extremely left amenable semigroups. In Proceedings of the conference on Banach algebras and several complex variables (New Haven, Conn., 1983), volume 32 of Contemp. Math., pages 195–207, Providence, RI, 1984. Amer. Math. Soc.
- [29] Walter Rudin. Fourier analysis on groups. Interscience Tracts in Pure and Applied Mathematics, No. 12. Interscience Publishers (a division of John Wiley and Sons), New York-London, 1962.
- [30] Walter Rudin. Functional analysis. International Series in Pure and Applied Mathematics. McGraw-Hill Inc., New York, second edition, 1991.

- [31] Carroll Wilde and Klaus Witz. Invariant means and the Stone-Čech compactification. Pacific J. Math., 21:577–586, 1967.
- [32] Stephen Willard. General topology. Addison-Wesley Publishing Co., Reading, Mass.-London-Don Mills, Ont., 1970.
- [33] James C. S. Wong. A characterization of topological left thick subsets in locally compact left amenable semigroups. *Pacific J. Math.*, 62(1):295–303, 1976.
- [34] James C. S. Wong. On topological analogues of left thick subsets in semigroups. Pacific J. Math., 83(2):571–585, 1979.
- [35] James C. S. Wong. Left thickness, left amenability and extreme left amenability. Semigroup Forum, 26(3-4):307-316, 1983.